

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



NEUROSCIENCE AND BIOBEHAVIORAL REVIEWS

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 30 (2006) 718-729

www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Brain development in children and adolescents: Insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging

Review

Rhoshel K. Lenroot, Jay N. Giedd*

Child Psychiatry Branch, National Institute of Mental Health, Building 10, Room 4C110, 10 Center Drive, Bethesda, MD 20854, USA

Abstract

Advances in neuroimaging have ushered in a new era of developmental neuroscience. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) is particularly well suited for pediatric studies because it does not use ionizing radiation which enables safe longitudinal scans of healthy children. Key findings related to brain anatomical changes during childhood and adolescent are increases in white matter volumes throughout the brain and regionally specific inverted U-shaped trajectories of gray matter volumes. Brain morphometric measures are highly variable across individuals and there is considerable overlap amongst groups of boys versus girls, typically developing versus neuropsychiatric populations, and young versus old. Studies are ongoing to explore the influences of genetic and environmental factors on developmental trajectories. © 2006 Published by Elsevier Ltd.

Keywords: Brain; MRI; Pediatric; Development

Contents

| 1. | Introduction | 719 |
|----|--|-----|
| 2. | Key events in brain development | 719 |
| 3. | Methodology considerations in pediatric anatomical MRI studies | 720 |
| | 3.1. Image acquisition | 720 |
| | 3.2. Image analysis | 720 |
| 4. | Early pediatric brain anatomical MRI studies | 721 |
| 5. | NIMH pediatric brain imaging project | 721 |
| | 5.1. Study design and population | 722 |
| | 5.2. MRI acquisition and image analysis | 722 |
| | 5.3. Results | 722 |
| | 5.3.1. Total cerebral volume | 722 |
| | 5.3.2. Ventricles | 722 |
| | 5.3.3. Gray matter | 723 |
| | 5.3.4. Subcortical gray matter | 723 |
| | 5.3.5. Amygdala and hippocampus | 723 |
| | 5.3.6. White matter | 723 |
| | 5.3.7. Summary | 726 |
| 6. | Brain-behavior relationships. | 726 |
| 7. | Conclusion and future directions. | 727 |
| | References | 727 |

*Corresponding author. Fax: +13014354517. *E-mail address:* jg@nih.gov (J.N. Giedd).

^{0149-7634/\$ -} see front matter \odot 2006 Published by Elsevier Ltd. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.001

R.K. Lenroot, J.N. Giedd / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 30 (2006) 718-729

1. Introduction

Differences in cognition, behavior, and emotions between children, adolescents, and adults have been noted for millennia. Characterizing the neuroanatomical substrates of these differences has been more elusive. Data from animal and post-mortem studies has been able to tell us much about the basic processes underlying the development of the brain, but these types of studies are limited in what they can tell us about how individuals change over time, the extent of variability between individuals, what factors may impact that change, and the functional correlates of these differences. Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) has opened the way for serial observations of brain changes during development in living people and thus the ability to address these questions. In this brief review we will first provide a context of the fundamental processes underlying brain formation, followed by a discussion of methodological issues in MRI. We will then summarize progress thus far on MRI studies of brain changes during development with an emphasis on the results from the longitudinal study of typically developing children and adolescents carried out by our group at National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH) over the past 15 years. We will conclude with a discussion of implications for brainbehavior relations and future directions.

2. Key events in brain development

The development of the nervous system occurs through the interaction of several synchronized processes, some of which are complete before birth, while others continue into adulthood. The first key event in the development of the central nervous system is the formation of a specialized fold of ectodermal tissue called the neural tube. The neural tube nears completion by 3–4 weeks of gestation (see Fig. 1) and is the basis for all further nervous system development. Birth defects such as spina bifida and meningomyelocele arise from abnormalities in neural tube formation (Victor et al., 2001).

From 4 to 12 weeks the neural tube differentiates into what will become various components of the nervous system. The forebrain and facial structures develop at one end, and the spinal cord at the other. The hollow center of the tube in the region that will become brain will eventually form the ventricles. Regions called *proliferative zones* form near the ventricles and give rise to young neurons. From 12 weeks to 20 weeks these neurons multiply and migrate from their origins to destinations in the cortex, moving along a scaffolding of glial cells (Rakic, 1990). After this migration, a period of rapid cell death occurs, reducing the neural number by half from 24 weeks of gestation to 4 weeks after birth. The cell bodies of the neurons are primarily found in the gray matter of the brain. Their myelinated axons form white matter.

Myelination occurs regionally beginning with the brain stem at 29 weeks (Inder and Huppi, 2000) and generally proceeds from inferior to superior and posterior to anterior. Proximal pathways tend to myelinate before distal, sensory before motor, and projection before association (Volpe, 2000). Although most major tracts are significantly myelinated by early childhood, axons within the cortex and in some regions such as the arcuate fasciculus, a white matter bundle near the temporal lobe, continue to myelinate into the second and third decades of life (Yakovlev and Lecours, 1967).

A third major developmental process is the proliferation and organization of synapses, which begins slightly later, around the 20th week of gestation. Synaptic density increases rapidly after birth, reaching by 2-years of age a



Fig. 1. Sequence of events in brain maturation.

level approximately 50% greater than that typically seen in adults (Huttenlocher, 1979). This is followed by a regionally specific loss of synaptic connections. For example, maximum synaptic density occurs in the visual cortex at 4 months postnatally, but it does not typically peak in the prefrontal cortex until 4 years of age.

Beginning at approximately 15 weeks the surface of the growing brain begins to fold into sulci and gyri (Levine and Barnes, 1999) The major sulci, except for the occipital lobe, are in place by 28 weeks of gestation, after which secondary and tertiary sulci are elaborated, with nearly all gyri present by birth. The sulcal and gyral patterns continue to increase in complexity after birth, likely related to changes in cell-packing density and maturation of subcortical tracts.

The dynamic interplay between progressive and regressive events results in relatively rapid brain growth in the first 2 years of life, by which time it has achieved 80% of its adult weight. By age 5 years brain size is approximately 90% of adult size (Dekaban and Sadowsky, 1978). However, significant remodeling of gray and white matter continues into the third decade of life, something that could not be fully appreciated until the MRI studies described below.

3. Methodology considerations in pediatric anatomical MRI studies

The brain is wrapped in a resilient membrane, immersed in a protective moat of fluid, and completely encased in bone. This protects the brain well from falls or attacks from predators but also creates a challenge for those interested in investigations of the organ responsible for our thinking and behavior.

Early methods of visualizing the brain in vivo, such as X-rays or computerized tomography, offered major advances but their use of ionizing radiation precluded their use in the study of healthy children. MRI has overcome this obstacle by providing exquisitely accurate pictures of in vivo brain anatomy without the same potential health risks. This has permitted not only the scanning of healthy children but also repeated scans of the same individuals over time. Such longitudinal data has proved indispensable in capturing the complicated and highly variable trajectories of anatomical brain development.

MRI is also a versatile imaging modality allowing assessment of physiology and characterization of many different aspects of tissue. In this paper we will focus on what is usually referred to as "anatomical" or "structural" MRI, the type whose output most closely resembles anatomy, as we would observe by visual inspection.

3.1. Image acquisition

Standard anatomical MRI acquisitions are typically designed to optimize discrimination between gray matter, white matter, and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) as these three tissue types are used to define the boundaries of many brain structures. Anatomical MRIs are formed from threedimensional volume elements called voxels. Each voxel is assigned a single value based on the average magnetic resonance characteristics present in the tissue corresponding to that voxel. The size of the voxel determines the spatial resolution, or the fineness of detail that can be distinguished in an image. Voxel sizes vary depending on the imaging parameters, magnet strength, the time allowed for acquisition, and other factors, but in most currently published structural MRI studies voxel sizes are on the order of 1–2ml. Greater spatial resolution can be purchased with the currency of time, but this must be weighed against patient discomfort. Most structural pediatric MRI studies limit image-acquisition time to between 5 and 20 min.

Despite the impressively high resolution now obtainable with MRI scans, a reminder of the relative size of the cellular elements contained in a typical cubic millimeter voxel is in order. While cell densities vary in different regions of the cortex, a voxel this size in the cortical gray matter of a typical young adult would likely contain between 35 and 70 million neurons and up to twice as many glial cells (Pakkenberg, 1997). The number of synapses has been estimated on the order of 500 billion (Scheff et al., 2001). The same size voxel in white matter could contain up to 32 km of myelinated fibers (Marner et al., 2003). The amount of structural variation that can occur well below what is detectable on an MRI image should be kept in mind when inferring functional and behavior capabilities from anatomical MR images.

3.2. Image analysis

Fundamental components of structural MRI analysis include the segmentation of voxels into specific tissue types (e.g. gray matter, white matter, CSF, and etc.) and the identification and description of specific brain structures or areas of interest. Several techniques are currently available for tissue classification. The most common method at present is the use of computer algorithms that create an intensity histogram of all of the voxels in the image and then fit a Gaussian function to the distribution. The probability of a given intensity corresponding to a given type of tissue can thus be inferred and voxels are assigned to tissue types accordingly. Additional classification constraints using methods such as Markov random field modeling which allow information about neighboring voxels to affect classification can significantly decrease misclassification due to random noise in the image (Rajapakse et al., 1997; Zhang et al., 2001; Pham et al., 2000). Surface deformation techniques and probabilistic atlases can augment the classification by using prior knowledge of brain anatomy to inform whether a given location in the brain is likely to contain gray matter, white matter, or CSF voxels (Davatzikos, 1996; Collins et al., 1995).

A major potential source of error in voxel classification is alteration in voxel intensities due to regional differences in the magnetic field at the time the image is acquired. These may arise from hardware problems, but are also unavoidably created by the presence of the head itself within the magnetic field. The different substances present within the head, ranging from the air in the sinuses to CSF and bone, each interact differently with the magnetic field and can perturb the intensity of the field, particular around complex areas such as the sphenoid region. Such effects become markedly stronger as field strengths increase. Bias field correction routines are now commonly used to identify and remove of this type of systematic distortion of image intensities (Zhang et al., 2001; Sled et al., 1998; Pham and Prince, 1999).

Once the voxels have been classified, the number of voxels in a given region can be counted to provide the gray and white matter volumes for that region. Lobar volumes are most commonly reported, but as resolution and labeling techniques improve smaller and smaller subregions can be accurately quantified. The "gold standard" for these types of analysis is still considered to be measurement by a trained human rater. Such an approach is labor-intensive and may not be feasible for use in studies with large numbers of subjects. In addition, some potentially informative features of brain anatomy such as cortical thickness or curvature are very difficult to quantify using this method. Continued improvements in the quality of MR images and computational resources, and development of new algorithms have made possible the many recent advances in the automation of image analysis and in the statistical analysis of the results, as seen in other manuscripts in this volume.

Another approach to comparing different brains is to create geometrical models of the brain or brain substructures can, which lend themselves to statistical analysis (see Fig. 2). The primary challenge to these approaches is to find a one-to-one correspondence between voxels in different brains. High individual variation in cortical sulcal and gyral folding patterns makes establishing this one-to-one correspondence difficult, although techniques to anchor the average shapes by aligning certain less variant sulci (Thompson and Toga, 1997; Thompson et al., 2004) or by using semi-automated deformable surface-warping methods (Liu et al., 2004) have greatly advanced the utility of these methods.



Fig. 2. Sulcal alignment: after careful separation of brain from nonbrain voxels, 38 sulcal curves on each subject's cortical surface are manually defined. The sulcal demarcations are used as anchors to create a deformation map, which warps the anatomy of one image onto another while matching sulcal demarcations.

Validation of MR image analysis techniques is hindered by lack of an absolute standard for comparison. Postmortem data are less than ideal on several counts. When removed from the intracranial cavity and the CSF in which it is immersed, the brain collapses on its own weight, distorting in vivo morphology. Fixation and drying processes affect different brain structures to different degrees, with gray matter and white matter shrinking at separate rates. Age is an important factor as younger brains have higher water content and are differentially affected by fixation processes. The standard for validation of automated measures for the quantification of many structures remains a comparison to results obtained from manual tracing by expert human raters.

4. Early pediatric brain anatomical MRI studies

The first MRI studies of brain development were reported in the 1980s and focused on qualitative descriptions of gray and white matter during the first 2 years of life (Barkovich et al., 1988; Holland et al., 1986; Johnson and Bydder, 1983; Levene et al., 1982; McArdle et al., 1987). With conventional MRI sequences the gray and white matter intensities during the first 6 months are reversed from the adult pattern (i.e. gray matter appears lighter than white matter). From ages 6 to 12 months there is a gradual and regionally specific transition to the adult pattern during which gray and white matter are not well differentiated. The findings are consistent with a decrease in water content in both white and gray matter, followed by the addition of macromolecular precursors to myelination and then myelination itself (Inder and Huppi, 2000; Paus et al., 2001).

Quantitative MRI studies of brain structure in typically developing children and adolescents were first reported in the 1990s. These confirmed the earlier postmortem findings that total brain volume was approximately 90% of adult size by age 5. White matter volume was generally found to be increasing and gray matter volume decreasing (Jernigan and Tallal, 1990; Reiss et al., 1996; Schaefer et al., 1990). These earlier studies provided seminal insights into anatomic brain development but were cross-sectional and underpowered to detect the more complicated developmental trajectories later confirmed by longitudinal studies.

In 1989, the Child Psychiatry Branch at the NIMH initiated the first large scale longitudinal study of normal and abnormal brain development. In the next section we will focus upon results obtained from this ongoing study.

5. NIMH pediatric brain imaging project

The long-term goals of the NIMH Pediatric Brain Imaging project are to (i) map the developmental trajectories of brain development; (ii) discern the genetic and environmental influences on these developmental pathways; and (iii) use knowledge of these influences to guide treatment interventions or optimize healthy brain development. Initial cross-sectional data indicated that large sample sizes or a longitudinal study design would be required to characterize the developmental changes of the pediatric population (Kraemer et al., 2000). The feasibility of this type of longitudinal MRI study has been supported by the relative stability of morphologic measures from scans acquired at 2- to 4-week intervals (Giedd et al., 1995). This stability indicates that quantitative differences in longitudinal scans are reflections of genuine changes in brain structure and not from variability related to the scanacquisition itself. As of December 2005 the data set included approximately 4000 scans from 2000 subjects. about half typically developing and half from various diagnostic groups, such as ADHD and childhood-onset Schizophrenia. This section will summarize results from the typically developing subjects of this project.

5.1. Study design and population

Healthy control subjects are recruited from the community and undergo physical and neurological exams, clinical interviews, family history assessment, and an extensive neuropsychological battery (Giedd et al., 1996a, 1999a). Approximately, 400 of the subjects are twins. Participants are asked to return for follow-up longitudinal testing and scans at approximately 2-year intervals.

5.2. MRI acquisition and image analysis

All images were acquired on the same General Electric 1.5 Tesla Signa Scanner located at the NIH Clinical Center. A three-dimensional spoiled gradient recalled echo in the steady state sequence, designed to optimize discrimination between gray matter, white matter and CSF, was used to acquire 124 contiguous 1.5-mm thick slices in the axial plane. Once the images are acquired, they are analyzed by a variety of automated parcellation and manual-tracing techniques through collaboration with several imaging centers throughout the world. Further details of the methods of image analysis are published elsewhere (Giedd et al., 1996a, 1999a; Zijdenbos et al., 1994; Chung et al., 2001). Analysis methods are applied to sub-samples of the available subjects depending on specific questions and the labor-intensiveness of the particular method used. As a consequence, because different methods of analysis used for different quantitative measures, and because automated measures are available for a greater number of subjects than manual measures, the samples presented in this manuscript are not identical. The number of subjects used for a given figure is given in that figure's legend.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. Total cerebral volume

Total cerebral volume peaks at 14.5 years in males and 11.5 years in females (Giedd et al., 1999b). By age 6 years the brain is at approximately 95% of this peak (see Fig. 3),



Fig. 3. Total cerebral volume (TCV) by age for 224 females (375 scans) in red and 287 males (532 scans) in blue.

consistent with earlier postmortem reports (Dekaban and Sadowsky, 1978). Male brains are approximately 9% larger on average than those of females. This difference is statistically significant, even when controlling for height and weight.

Total brain size differences should not be interpreted as imparting any sort of functional advantage or disadvantage. Gross structural measures may not reflect sexually dimorphic differences in functionally relevant factors such as neuronal connectivity and receptor density. This is further highlighted by the remarkable degree of variability seen in overall volumes and shapes of individual trajectories in this carefully selected group of healthy children. Healthy normally functioning children at the same age could have 50% differences in brain volume, highlighting the need to be cautious regarding functional implications of absolute brain sizes.

In anatomical MRI studies total cerebral volumes are usually further analyzed with respect to volumes of constituent tissues and structures, including the ventricles, gray matter, and white matter. The following sections will address these components.

5.3.2. Ventricles

Lateral ventricular volume increases across this age span (see Fig. 4), a fact not widely appreciated for children and adolescents. The naturally occurring enlargement of ventricles should be considered in interpreting the reports of increased ventricular volumes, or ventricular-to-brain ratios, reported for several neuropsychiatric conditions. Lateral ventricle volumes, perhaps because they share a



Fig. 4. Lateral ventricle volume by age for 224 females (375 scans) in red and 287 males (532 scans) in blue.

border with a myriad of other structures, tend to have the highest variability of brain morphometric measures.

5.3.3. Gray matter

5.3.3.1. Cortical gray matter. Cortical gray matter volume tends to follow an "inverted U" developmental course with volumes peaking at different times in different lobes (see Fig. 5). For instance, frontal lobe gray matter reaches its maximal volume at 11.0 years in girls and 12.1 years in boys; temporal lobe cortical gray matter peaks at 16.7 years in girls and 16.2 years in boys; and parietal lobe cortical gray matter peaks at 10.2 years in girls and 11.8 years in boys (Giedd et al., 1999b).

To explore cortical gray matter changes at a smaller spatial resolution we examined the change in gray matter density at the voxel level in a group of 13 subjects scanned 4 times at approximately 2-year intervals (Gogtay et al., 2004) (see Fig. 6). In accord with the previously described method (see Fig. 2) cortical landmarks were selected and used as anchors to aid registration between brains. The developmental trajectory of cortical gray matter followed a regionally specific pattern with areas subserving primary functions, such as motor and sensory systems, maturing earliest and higher order association areas, which integrate those primary functions, maturing later. For example, in the temporal lobes the latest part to reach adult levels is the superior temporal gyrus/sulcus which integrates memory, audio-visual input, and object recognition functions (along with prefrontal and inferior parietal cortices) (Mesulam, 1998; Calvert, 2001; Martin and Chao, 2001). The changes over time can be viewed as time-lapse movies (http:// www.loni.ucla.edu/~thompson/DEVEL/dynamic.html).

Notably, late to reach adult levels of cortical thickness is the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, involved in circuitry subserving control of impulses, judgment, and decisionmaking. The implications of late maturation of this area have entered educational, social, political, and judicial discourse in matters ranging from whether minors are cognitively mature enough to qualify for the death penalty to the age at which teenagers should be allowed to drive. In these debates there is a tendency to overestimate our understanding about the relationships between brain biology and behavior or cognition, especially on an individual basis. On the other hand, proper application of our growing knowledge of brain development and physiology will undoubtedly have increasing relevance in educational, judicial, and social domains. Exploring the nexus between advances in neuroscience and these other domains is likely to be a highly active endeavor in the years to come.

5.3.4. Subcortical gray matter

5.3.4.1. Basal ganglia. The basal ganglia consist of the caudate, putamen, globus pallidus, subthalamic nucleus, and substantia nigra. The basal ganglia have long been known to play a role in the control of movement and muscle tone but more recently have been shown to be involved in circuits mediating higher cognitive functions, attention, and affective states. Our group measured caudate nucleus volumes and found that like the cortical gray matter structures the caudate nucleus follows an inverted U-shaped developmental trajectory. Caudate size peaks at age 7.5 years in girls and 10.0 years in boys (see Fig. 7).

5.3.5. Amygdala and hippocampus

The temporal lobes, amygdala, and hippocampus subserve emotion, language, and memory, functions that change markedly between the ages of 4 and 18 years (Jerslid, 1963; Wechsler, 1974; Diener et al., 1985). In a previous cross-sectional study of a subset of this longitudinal data, amygdala volume increased with age significantly only in males and hippocampal volume increased significantly with age only in females (Giedd et al., 1996b). This pattern of gender-specific maturational volumetric changes is consistent with nonhuman primate studies indicating a relatively high number of androgen receptors in the amygdala (Clark et al., 1988) and a relatively higher number of estrogen receptors in the hippocampus (Morse et al., 1986), although direct links between receptor density and growth patterns have not been established. Quantification of the amygdala and hippocampus for the longitudinal sample is underway.

5.3.6. White matter

5.3.6.1. Lobar white matter volumes. In contrast to the inverted U shape of gray matter developmental curves, the amount of white matter in the brain generally increases throughout childhood and adolescence (see Fig. 8). Although the rate of white matter increase varies with age, we have not detected periods of overall white matter



Fig. 5. Frontal GM, parietal GM, and temporal GM volumes: 243 scans from 145 subjects (scans acquired at approximately 2-year intervals). The arrows indicate peak volume. (I need to remove the WM figure from this panel as I show it in Fig. 8. I am rerunning these measures on the updated sample so that all will be consistent.)

reduction for any region within the age range we have examined (Giedd et al., 1999). Reports from other groups studying white matter changes in older populations have found that white matter does not begin to decrease until the fourth decade (Bartzokis et al., 2001). Unlike the lobar differences seen in gray matter trajectories, the white matter slopes are similar in frontal, temporal, and parietal lobes.

The differences in gray matter and white matter developmental trajectories belie the inseparable connection among neurons, glial cells, and myelin, which are components of the same neural circuits and share lifelong reciprocal relationships (Fields and Stevens-Graham, 2002). Neuron activity influences myelin production and the proliferation and survival of oligodendrocytes (Barres and Barde, 2000; Fields et al., 2001) while oligodendrocytes influence neurons via secretion of neuronal growth factors and influence axonal growth and clustering of ion channels (Du and Dreyfus, 2002). Proximal pathways tend to be myelinated before distal, sensory before motor, and projection before association (Volpe, 2000). Later-maturing myelin sheaths, such as those in association tracts and intracortical regions, tend to be thinner with greater axonal load per oligodendrocyte (Yakovlev and Lecours, 1967; Kinney et al., 1994), which may render them more vulnerable to environmental or aging-related factors (Bartzokis, 2004).

5.3.6.2. Corpus callosum. The most prominent white matter structure is the corpus callosum, consisting of approximately 200 million myelinated fibers, most of which connect homologous areas of the left and right cortex. The functions of the corpus callosum can generally be thought of as integrating the activities of the left and right cerebral hemispheres, including functions related to the unification of sensory fields (Berlucchi, 1981; Shanks et al., 1975), memory storage and retrieval (Zaidel and Sperry, 1974), attention and arousal (Levy, 1985), enhancing language and auditory functions (Cook, 1986). Several studies have indicated that corpus callosum development continues to



Fig. 6. Right lateral and top views of the dynamic sequence of gray matter maturation over the cortical surface. The side bar shows a color representation in units of GM volume. Fifty-two scans from 13 subjects each scanned 4 times at approximately 2-year intervals.



White Matter Volume (cc)

Fig. 7. Caudate nucleus volume by age for 224 females (375 scans) in red and 287 Males (532 scans) in blue.

progress throughout adolescence (Allen et al., 1991; Cowell et al., 1992; Pujol et al., 1993; Rauch and Jinkins, 1994) raising the question of whether this may be related to the improvement in these cognitive capacities seen during

Fig. 8. White matter volume by age for 224 females (375 scans) in red and 287 males (532 scans) in blue.

childhood and adolescence. Effects of sex have been widely debated with some authors finding gender-related differences (Cowell et al., 1992; de Lacoste et al., 1986; Holloway and de Lacoste, 1986; Clarke et al., 1989) while many have



Fig. 9. Midsagittal corpus callosum area by age for 224 females (375 scans) in red and 287 Males (532 scans) in blue.

not (Bell and Variend, 1985; Witelson, 1985a, b; Oppenheim et al., 1987; Weis et al., 1988, 1989; Byne et al., 1988). In the NIMH sample total midsagittal corpus callosum area increased robustly from ages 4 to 18 years, but there were no significant gender effects (see Fig. 9).

5.3.7. Summary

Total brain size is 95% of maximum size by age 6, although cortical and subcortical components of the brain change dramatically during childhood and adolescence. Gray matter volumes follow inverted U-shaped developmental curves during childhood and are regional specific whereas white matter volume changes tend to be more linear and less variant across regions. Brain structure size and developmental trajectories are highly variable and sexually dimorphic.

6. Brain-behavior relationships

A primary aim of developmental studies of brain structure is to better understand developmental changes in cognition and behavior. Although few would argue that the brain is the physical substrate for cognition and behavior, relationships between the size of a particular brain area and these functions are rarely straightforward. It is a considerable challenge to relate brain function to distributed neural networks or to the complex interactions of neurons, neurotransmitter systems, and synaptic function within any given brain region. Nonetheless, correlations have been identified between some aspects of brain structure size and functional capacity. Several studies have shown that there are correlations of brain structural measures with IQ on both whole-brain and regional levels (Reiss et al., 1996; Haier et al., 2004; Posthuma et al., 2002; Thompson et al., 2001; Toga and Thompson, 2004).

Relationships between memory function and hippocampal size have also been noted in several animal models. Food-storing species of birds have larger hippocampi than related non-food-storing species (Krebs et al., 1989; Sherry et al., 1989), and in mammals, a similar example can be found in voles. Male voles of the polygamous species travel far and wide in search of mates: they perform better than their female counterparts on laboratory measures of spatial ability and have significantly larger hippocampi (Sherry et al., 1992). Conversely, in the monogamous vole species, which do not show male-female differences in spatial ability, no sexual dimorphism of hippocampal size is seen (Jacobs et al., 1990). In humans also, correlations between memory for stories and left hippocampal volume have been noted (Goldberg et al., 1994; Lencz et al., 1992). A study of taxi drivers in London found that they had larger posterior hippocampi than controls, thought to be related to their extensive amount of navigational memory required for their work (Maguire et al., 2000).

The realization of the amount of plasticity present in even the adult brain has also made clear that the relationship between factors affecting brain development and the resultant brain structures is staggeringly complex. As articulated by several investigators (Ansari and Karmiloff-Smith, 2002; Cicchetti and Cohen, 1995; Gottlieb and Halpern, 2002; Johnson et al., 2002; Karmiloff-Smith et al., 2004; Rutter and Sroufe, 2000; Sameroff and Mackenzie, 2003; Thomas and Karmiloff-Smith, 2002; Peterson, 2003), the structure of the brain at any time is a product of interactions between genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors ("environmental" taken broadly as including both the outside environment and the internal physiological milieu). Stresses placed on the developing individual by a mismatch between his or her capacities and demands placed by the environment will result in compensatory physiological responses and behaviors that in time may affect brain structures. This can be part of a normal learning process, or, if the mismatch is too severe, can result in pathology. Influences of these compensations upon developmental trajectories may include a complete normalization, or only a partial return. The compensations themselves may even trigger environmental reactions that further divert the developmental trajectory from what would have been expected. It is not possible to determine ex post facto from a neuroimaging study which features are related to the initial perturbation or genetic anomaly and which to downstream effects-the "inverse solution" problem, as reviewed by (Courchesne, 1994). Longitudinal studies beginning as early as possible are the best means to try to tease apart how brain structure relates to other factors affecting the developmental trajectory (Peterson, 2003). Such studies may be logistically difficult, but as described previously, the few available to date have been fruitful in showing significant differences in trajectories

Mid-Sagittal Corpus Callosum Area (c²)

that were not apparent from previous cross-sectional studies (Giedd et al., 1999; Gogtay et al., 2004).

7. Conclusion and future directions

The field of pediatric structural neuroimaging has been growing rapidly in response to the realization of the complexity and potential malleability of postnatal brain development. There are now large-scale studies underway in several countries combining data from multiple sites in order to increase sample sizes and move towards the compilation of population-based measures of brain development. Advances in scanner technology are making it possible to obtain very high-resolution structural data within time frames feasible for pediatric populations. Although not reviewed here, recent years have seen the development of MRI-acquisition methods such as diffusion tensor imaging, magnetic resonance spectroscopy, and relaxometry that are able to augment structural data with information about microstructural and physiological aspects of brain development. The application of increasingly sophisticated image analysis and statistical modeling methods is allowing exploration of higher-level structural characteristics such as shape, symmetry, and complexity.

Remarkable advances in the field of pediatric neuroimaging have opened new windows into our understanding of the living growing human brain. The mapping of developmental trajectories in typical development lays the groundwork for the next stages of exploring the influences on those trajectories and ultimately using the knowledge to optimize brain development in healthy and clinical populations.

References

- Allen, L.S., Richey, M.F., Chai, Y.M., Gorski, R.A., 1991. Sex differences in the corpus callosum of the living human being. Journal of Neuroscience 11, 933–942.
- Ansari, D., Karmiloff-Smith, A., 2002. A typical trajectories of number development: a neuroconstructivist perspective. Trends in Cognitive Sciences 6 (12), 511–516.
- Barkovich, A.J., Kjos, B.O., Jackson Jr., D.E., Norman, D., 1988. Normal maturation of the neonatal and infant brain: MR imaging at 1.5 T. Radiology 166, 173–180.
- Barres, B.A., Barde, Y., 2000. Neuronal and glial cell biology. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 10 (5), 642–648.
- Bartzokis, G., 2004. Age-related myelin breakdown: a developmental model of cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiology of Aging 25 (1), 5–18 (author reply 49–62).
- Bartzokis, G., Beckson, M., Lu, P.H., Nuechterlein, K.H., Edwards, N., Mintz, J., 2001. Age-related changes in frontal and temporal lobe volumes in men: a magnetic resonance imaging study. Archives of General Psychiatry 58 (5), 461–465.
- Bell, A.D., Variend, S., 1985. Failure to demonstrate sexual dimorphism of the corpus callosum in childhood. Journal of Anatomy 143, 143–147.
- Berlucchi, G., 1981. Interhemispheric asymmetries in visual discrimination: a neurophysiological hypothesis. Documenta Ophthalmologica Proceedings Series 30, 87–93.

- Byne, W., Bleier, R., Houston, L., 1988. Variations in human corpus callosum do not predict gender: a study using magnetic resonance imaging. Behavioral Neuroscience 102, 222–227.
- Calvert, G.A., 2001. Cross modal processing in the human brain: insights from functional neuroimaging studies. Cerebral Cortex 11 (12), 1110–1123.
- Chung, M.K., Worsley, K.J., Paus, T., Cherif, C., Collins, D.L., Giedd, J.N., Rapoport, J.L., Evans, A.C., 2001. A unified statistical approach to deformation-based morphometry. Neuroimage 14 (3), 595–606.
- Cicchetti, D., Cohen, D.J., 1995. Perspectives on developmental psychopathology. In: Cicchetti, D. (Ed.), Developmental Psychopathology, vol. 1. Wiley, New York, pp. 3–22.
- Clark, A.S., MacLusky, N.J., Goldman-Rakic, P.S., 1988. Androgen binding and metabolism in the cerebral cortex of the developing rhesus monkey. Endocrinology 123, 932–940.
- Clarke, S., Kraftsik, R., Van Der Loos, H., Innocenti, G.M., 1989. Forms and measures of adult and developing human corpus callosum: is there sexual dimorphism? Journal of Comparative Neurology 280, 213–230.
- Collins, D.L., Holmes, C.J., Peters, T.M., Evans, A.C., 1995. Automatic 3-D model-based neuroanatomical segmentation. Human Brain Mapping 3, 190–208.
- Cook, N.D., 1986. The Brain Code. Mechanisms of Information Transfer and the Role of the Corpus Callosum. Methuen, London.
- Courchesne, E., Yeung-Courchesne, R., Egaas, B., 1994. Methodology in neuroanatomic measurement. Neurology 44 (2), 203–208.
- Cowell, P.E., Allen, L.S., Zalatimo, N.S., Denenberg, V.H., 1992. A developmental study of sex and age interactions in the human corpus callosum. Developmental Brain Research 66, 187–192.
- Davatzikos, C., 1996. Spatial normalization of 3D brain images using deformable models. Journal of Computer Assisted Tomography 20 (4), 656–665.
- de Lacoste, M.C., Holloway, R.L., Woodward, D.J., 1986. Sex differences in the fetal human corpus callosum. Human Neurobiology 5, 93–96.
- Dekaban, A.S., Sadowsky, D., 1978. Changes in brain weight during the span of human life: relation of brain weights to body heights and body weights. Annals of Neurology 4, 345–356.
- Diener, E., Sandvik, E., Larsen, R.F., 1985. Age and sex effects for affect intensity. Developmental Psychology 21, 542–546.
- Du, Y., Dreyfus, C.F., 2002. Oligodendrocytes as providers of growth factors. Journal of Neuroscience Research 68 (6), 647–654.
- Fields, R.D., Stevens-Graham, B., 2002. New insights into neuron-glia communication. Science 298 (5593), 556–562.
- Fields, R.D., Eshete, F., Dudek, S., Ozsarac, N., Stevens, B., 2001. Regulation of gene expression by action potentials: dependence on complexity in cellular information processing. Novartis Foundation Symposium 239, 160–172 (discussion 172–6, 234–40).
- Giedd, J.N., Castellanos, F.X., Rajapakse, J.C., Kaysen, D., Vaituzis, A.C., Vauss, Y.C., Hamburger, S.D., Rapoport, J.L., 1995. Cerebral MRI of human brain development—ages 4–18. Biological Psychiatry 37 (9), 657.
- Giedd, J.N., Snell, J.W., Lange, N., Rajapakse, J.C., Casey, B.J., Kozuch, P.L., Vaituzis, A.C., Vauss, Y.C., Hamburger, S.D., Kaysen, D., Rapoport, J.L., 1996a. Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging of human brain development: ages 4–18. Cerebral Cortex 6 (4), 551–560.
- Giedd, J.N., Vaituzis, A.C., Hamburger, S.D., Lange, N., Rajapakse, J.C., Kaysen, D., Vauss, Y.C., Rapoport, J.L., 1996b. Quantitative MRI of the temporal lobe, amygdala, and hippocampus in normal human development: ages 4–18 years. Journal of Comparative Neurology 366 (2), 223–230.
- Giedd, J.N., Blumenthal, J., Jeffries, N.O., Castellanos, F.X., Liu, H., Zijdenbos, A., Paus, T., Evans, A.C., Rapoport, J.L., 1999. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study [letter]. Nature Neuroscience 2 (10), 861–863.
- Giedd, J.N., Blumenthal, J., Jeffries, N.O., Castellanos, F.X., Liu, H., Zijdenbos, A., Paus, T., Evans, A.C., Rapoport, J.L., 1999b. Brain development during childhood and adolescence: a longitudinal MRI study. Nature Neuroscience 2 (10), 861–863.

- Gogtay, N., Giedd, J.N., Lusk, L., Hayashi, K.M., Greenstein, D., Vaituzis, A.C., Nugent III, T.F., Herman, D.H., Clasen, L.S., Toga, A.W., Rapoport, J.L., Thompson, P.M., 2004. Dynamic mapping of human cortical development during childhood through early adulthood. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101 (21), 8174–8179.
- Goldberg, T.E., Torrey, E.F., Berman, K.F., Weinberger, D.R., 1994. Relations between neuropsychological performance and brain morphological and physiological measures in monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia. Psychiatry Research 55, 51–61.
- Gottlieb, G., Halpern, C.T., 2002. A relational view of causality in normal and abnormal development. Development and Psychopathology 14 (3), 421–435.
- Haier, R.J., Jung, R.E., Yeo, R.A., Head, K., Alkire, M.T., 2004. Structural brain variation and general intelligence. Neuroimage 23 (1), 425–433.
- Holland, B.A., Haas, D.K., Norman, D., Brant-Zawadzki, M., Newton, T.H., 1986. MRI of normal brain maturation. American Journal of Neuroradiology 7, 201–208.
- Holloway, R.L., de Lacoste, M.C., 1986. Sexual dimorphism in the human corpus callosum: an extension and replication study. Human Neurobiology 5, 87–91.
- Huttenlocher, P.R., 1979. Synaptic density in human frontal cortex developmental changes and effects of aging. Brain Research 163, 195–205.
- Inder, T.E., Huppi, P.S., 2000. In vivo studies of brain development by magnetic resonance techniques. Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews 6 (1), 59–67.
- Jacobs, L.F., Gaulin, S.J., Sherry, D.F., Hoffman, G.E., 1990. Evolution of spatial cognition: sex-specific patterns of spatial behavior predict hippocampal size. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 87, 6349–6352.
- Jernigan, T.L., Tallal, P., 1990. Late childhood changes in brain morphology observable with MRI. Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology 32, 379–385.
- Jerslid, A.T., 1963. The Psychology of Adolescence. Macmillan Publishing Company, New York.
- Johnson, M.A., Bydder, G.M., 1983. NMR imaging of the brain in children. Medical Bulletin 40 (2), 175–178.
- Johnson, M.H., Halit, H., Grice, S.J., Karmiloff-Smith, A., 2002. Neuroimaging of typical and atypical development: a perspective from multiple levels of analysis. Development and Psychopathology 14 (3), 521–536.
- Karmiloff-Smith, A., Thomas, M., Annaz, D., Humphreys, K., Ewing, S., Brace, N., Duuren, M., Pike, G., Grice, S., Campbell, R., 2004. Exploring the Williams syndrome face-processing debate: the importance of building developmental trajectories. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines 45 (7), 1258–1274.
- Kinney, H.C., Karthigasan, J., Borenshteyn, N.I., Flax, J.D., Kirschner, D.A., 1994. Myelination in the developing human brain: biochemical correlates. Neurochemical Research 19 (8), 983–996.
- Kraemer, H.C., Yesavage, J.A., Taylor, J.L., Kupfer, D., 2000. How can we learn about developmental processes from cross-sectional studies, or can we? American Journal of Psychiatry 157 (2), 163–171.
- Krebs, J.R., Sherry, D.F., Healy, S.D., Perry, V.H., Vaccarino, A.L., 1989. Hippocampal specialization of food-storing birds. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 86, 1388–1392.
- Lencz, T., McCarthy, G., Bronen, R.A., Scott, T.M., Inserni, J.A., Sass, K.J., Novelly, R.A., Kim, J.H., Spencer, D.D., 1992. Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging in temporal lobe epilepsy: relationship to neuropathology and neuropsychological function. Annals of Neurology 31, 629–637.
- Levene, M.I., Whitelaw, A., Dubowitz, V., Bydder, G.M., Steiner, R.E., Randell, C.P., Young, I.R., 1982. Nuclear magnetic resonance imaging of the brain in children. British Medical Journal (Clinical Research Edition) 285, 774–776.

- Levine, D., Barnes, P.D., 1999. Cortical maturation in normal and abnormal fetuses as assessed with prenatal MR imaging. Radiology 210 (3), 751–758.
- Levy, J., 1985. Interhemispheric collaboration: single mindedness in the asymmetric brain. In: Best, C.T. (Ed.), Hemisphere Function and Collaboration in the Child. Academic Press, New York, pp. 11–32.
- Liu, T., Shen, D., Davatzikos, C., 2004. Deformable registration of cortical structures via hybrid volumetric and surface warping. Neuroimage 22 (4), 1790–1801.
- Maguire, E.A., Gadian, D.G., Johnsrude, I.S., Good, C.D., Ashburner, J., Frackowiak, R.S., Frith, C.D., 2000. Navigation-related structural change in the hippocampi of taxi drivers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 97 (8), 4398–4403.
- Marner, L., Nyengaard, J.R., Tang, Y., Pakkenberg, B., 2003. Marked loss of myelinated nerve fibers in the human brain with age. Journal of Comparative Neurology 462 (2), 144–152.
- Martin, A., Chao, L.L., 2001. Semantic memory and the brain: structure and processes. Current Opinion in Neurobiology 11 (2), 194–201.
- McArdle, C.B., Richardson, C.J., Nicholas, D.A., Mirfakhraee, M., Hayden, C.K., Amparo, E.G., 1987. Developmental features of the neonatal brain: MR imaging. Part I. Gray-white matter differentiation and myelination. Radiology 162, 223–229.
- Mesulam, M.M., 1998. From sensation to cognition. Brain 121 (Part 6), 1013–1052.
- Morse, J.K., Scheff, S.W., DeKosky, S.T., 1986. Gonadal steroids influence axonal sprouting in the hippocampal dentate gyrus: a sexually dimorphic response. Experimental Neurology 94, 649–658.
- Oppenheim, J.S., Benjamin, A.B., Lee, C.P., Nass, R., Gazzianga, M.S., 1987. No sex-related differences in human corpus callosum based on magnetic resonance imagery. Annals of Neurology 21, 604–606.
- Pakkenberg, B., Gundersen, H.J., 1997. Neocortical neuron number in humans: effect of sex and age. Journal of Comparative Neurology 384 (2), 312–320.
- Paus, T., Collins, D.L., Evans, A.C., Leonard, G., Pike, B., Zijdenbos, A., 2001. Maturation of white matter in the human brain: a review of magnetic resonance studies. Brain Research Bulletin 54 (3), 255–266.
- Peterson, B.S., 2003. Conceptual, methodological, and statistical challenges in brain imaging studies of developmentally based psychopathologies. Development and Psychopathology 15 (3), 811–832.
- Pham, D.L., Prince, J.L., 1999. Adaptive fuzzy segmentation of magnetic resonance images. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging 18 (9), 737–752.
- Pham, D.L., Xu, C., Prince, J.L., 2000. Current methods in medical image segmentation. Annual Review of Biomedical Engineering 2, 315–337.
- Posthuma, D., De Geus, E.J., Baare, W.F., Hulshoff Pol, H.E., Kahn, R.S., Boomsma, D.I., 2002. The association between brain volume and intelligence is of genetic origin. Nature Neuroscience 5 (2), 83–84.
- Pujol, J., Vendrell, P., Junque, C., Marti-Vilalta, J.L., Capdevila, A., 1993. When does human brain development end? Evidence of corpus callosum growth up to adulthood. Annals of Neurology 34, 71–75.
- Rajapakse, J.C., Giedd, J.N., Rapoport, J.L., 1997. Statistical approach to segmentation of single-channel cerebral MR images. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging 16 (2), 176–186.
- Rakic, P., 1990. The Neocortex: Ontogeny and Phylogeny. Plenum Press, New York.
- Rauch, R.A., Jinkins, J.R., 1994. Analysis of cross-sectional area measurements of the corpus callosum adjusted for brain size in male and female subjects from childhood to adulthood. Behavioural Brain Research 64, 65–78.
- Reiss, A.L., Abrams, M.T., Singer, H.S., Ross, J.L., Denckla, M.B., 1996. Brain development, gender and IQ in children. A volumetric imaging study. Brain 119 (Part 5), 1763–1774.
- Rutter, M., Sroufe, L.A., 2000. Developmental psychopathology: concepts and challenges. Development and Psychopathology 12 (3), 265–296.

- Sameroff, A.J., Mackenzie, M.J., 2003. Research strategies for capturing transactional models of development: the limits of the possible. Development and Psychopathology 15 (3), 613–640.
- Schaefer, G.B., Thompson Jr., J.N., Bodensteiner, J.B., Hamza, M., Tucker, R.R., Marks, W., Gay, C., Wilson, D., 1990. Quantitative morphometric analysis of brain growth using magnetic resonance imaging. Journal of Child Neurology 5, 127–130.
- Scheff, S.W., Price, D.A., Sparks, D.L., 2001. Quantitative assessment of possible age-related change in synaptic numbers in the human frontal cortex. Neurobiology of Aging 22 (3), 355–365.
- Shanks, M.F., Rockel, A.J., Powel, T.P.S., 1975. The commissural fiber connections of the primary somatic sensory cortex. Brain Research 98, 166–171.
- Sherry, D.F., Vaccarino, A.L., Buckenham, K., Herz, R.S., 1989. The hippocampal complex of food-storing birds. Brain Behavior and Evolution 34, 308–317.
- Sherry, D.F., Jacobs, L.F., Gaulin, S.J., 1992. Spatial memory and adaptive specialization of the hippocampus. Trends in Neuroscience 15 (8), 298–303.
- Sled, J.G., Zijdenbos, A.P., Evans, A.C., 1998. A nonparametric method for automatic correction of intensity nonuniformity in MRI data. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging 17 (1), 87–97.
- Thomas, M., Karmiloff-Smith, A., 2002. Are developmental disorders like cases of adult brain damage? Implications from connectionist modelling. Behavioral and Brain Sciences 25 (6), 727–750 (discussion 750–87).
- Thompson, P.M., Toga, A.W., 1997. Detection, visualization and animation of abnormal anatomic structure with a deformable probabilistic brain atlas based on random vector field transformations. Medical Image Analysis 1 (4), 271–294.
- Thompson, P.M., Cannon, T.D., Narr, K.L., van Erp, T., Poutanen, V.P., Huttunen, M., Lonnqvist, J., Standertskjold-Nordenstam, C.G., Kaprio, J., Khaledy, M., Dail, R., Zoumalan, C.I., Toga, A.W., 2001. Genetic influences on brain structure. Nature Neuroscience 4 (12), 1253–1258.
- Thompson, P.M., Hayashi, K.M., Sowell, E.R., Gogtay, N., Giedd, J.N., Rapoport, J.L., de Zubicaray, G.I., Janke, A.L., Rose, S.E., Semple,

J., Doddrell, D.M., Wang, Y.L., Van Erp, T.G.M., Cannon, T.D., Toga, A.W., 2004. Mapping cortical change in Alzheimer's Disease, brain development, and schizophrenia. NeuroImage.

- Toga, A.W., Thompson, P.M., 2004. Genetics of Brain Structure and Intelligence. Annual Review of Neuroscience.
- Victor, M., Ropper, A.H., Adams, R.D., 2001. Adams and Victor's Principles of Neurology. Medical Pub. Division, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Volpe, J.J., 2000. Overview: normal and abnormal human brain development. Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews 6 (1), 1–5.
- Wechsler, D., 1974. Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children—Revised. The Psychological Corporation, New York.
- Weis, S., Weber, G., Wenger, E., Kimbacher, M., 1988. The human corpus callosum and the controversy about sexual dimorphism. Psychobiology 16, 411–415.
- Weis, S., Weber, G., Wenger, E., Kimbacher, M., 1989. The controversy about sexual dimorphism of the human corpus callosum. International Journal of Neuroscience 47, 169–173.
- Witelson, S.F., 1985a. On hemisphere specialization and cerebral plasticity from birth. In: Best, C.T. (Ed.), Hemisphere Function and Collaboration in the Child. Acad Press Inc., Orlando, pp. 33–85.
- Witelson, S.F., 1985b. The brain connection: the corpus callosum is larger in left-handers. Science 229, 665–668.
- Yakovlev, P.I., Lecours, A., 1967. The myelogenetic cycles of regional maturation of the brain. In: Minkovski, A. (Ed.), Regional development of the brain in early life. Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 3–65.
- Zaidel, D., Sperry, R.W., 1974. Memory impairment after commissurotomy in man. Brain 97, 263–272.
- Zhang, Y., Brady, M., Smith, S., 2001. Segmentation of brain MR images through a hidden Markov random field model and the expectationmaximization algorithm. IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging 20 (1), 45–57.
- Zijdenbos, A.P., Dawant, B.M., Margolin, R.A., 1994. Automatic detection of intracranial contours in MR images. Computerized Medical Imaging and Graphics 18 (1), 11–23.